KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of a meeting of the Cabinet held in the Council Chamber, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Thursday, 3 March 2022.

PRESENT: Mr R W Gough (Chairman), Mrs C Bell, Mr D L Brazier, Miss S J Carey, Mrs S Chandler, Mr P M Hill, OBE, Mr D Murphy, Mr P J Oakford and Mrs S Prendergast

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

5. Apologies and Substitutes

(Item 1)

There were no apologies for absence.

6. Minutes of the Meeting held on 27 January 2022 (Item 3)

Resolved that the minutes of the meetings held on 27 January 2022 were a correct record and that they be signed by the Chair.

7. Cabinet Member Updates (Item 4)

1) Mrs Bell said the government had announced changes in the guidance for living with Covid-19. It was to be managed like other respiratory illnesses, while minimising mortality rates and maintaining the ability to respond if a new and potentially more dangerous variant emerged. The 4 key elements of living with Covid-19 were: removing domestic restrictions and encouraging safer behaviours through Public Health advice, protecting people who were the most vulnerable, maintaining resilience through ongoing surveillance and contingency planning, and securing innovations and opportunities from the Covid-19 response.

In terms of the local response to the new guidance, it was confirmed that the two test centres at Ashford and Maidstone were to close on 31 March, with a phased reduction of opening hours based on usage from 4 March.

On 2 March, the first Kent Care Summit was held at Detling Showground and over 300 people attended, in person and virtually. Thanks were given to Gina Walton and team for the organisation of the event. The Summit was opened by the Leader of KCC and delegates heard powerful and moving accounts from people with lived experience of social care. A panel of local and national representatives, including the Director General for Adult Social Care at the DHSC, the Chief Executive of Kent and Medway NHS Integrated Care System and the Head of Inspection at the Care Quality Commission shared their thoughts and views and took questions on a variety of issues.

Mrs Bell introduced the afternoon session at the Summit where delegates were split into small groups to discuss 5 key changes which had been identified to address the many challenges and how the future of social care could be shaped. The 3 main themes which emerged from the day were: support for carers, being person-centred and workforce recruitment and retention.

Feedback from the day was being collated and evaluated and would be put into an action plan and it was felt there was a recognition and understanding of the challenges and the need to work together. There was a huge amount of energy and commitment to making the changes necessary to deliver care in the future.

2) Mrs Chandler said there had been substantial progress in the completion of educational psychology assessments within SEND. At the beginning of September 2021, there had been a considerable number of historic referrals from the previous academic year on the waiting list. All children who were referred for Education, Health and Care Needs Assessment in 2021 had been allocated to an Educational Psychologist and children referred in February 2022 were now being allocated. In order to address the provision of education psychology assessments for children on the waiting list and new referrals there had been a small dip in the timeliness of reports but it was expected that this would be back on track soon.

The 27th Try Angle Awards ceremony was to be held on 20 March. The scheme had been running for a long time and the Awards ceremony was an uplifting and motivated experience.

3) Mrs Prendergast said that the top priority over the last few weeks had been SEN Transport which was to be discussed at Agenda item 6.

Tuesday 1 March was National Offer Day for secondary school places. A total of 18,311 Kent parents/carers applied for a place for their child in a school for September 2022 - the highest number of Kent applications ever seen. 79.6% of Kent families were offered a place at their first preference school - an increase just shy of 10% on last year. While last year's results were affected by the increased number of preferences parents were offered due to COVID, this year's results still exceeded the 77.7% achieved for the 2020 intake. Overall, 95.4% of families were offered a school of preference, maintaining the same level as last year – despite an increase in numbers.

Unfortunately, there remained a small proportion of families without a school of their preference - all pupils, however, had been offered an alternative school. Unfortunately, fewer than 8% of these parents made full use of their preferences to name eligible schools - which significantly limited KCC's opportunity to offer them a school of their preference. Kent's process was to continue to provide opportunities to secure alternatives before the start of the new school year. Parents were advised to read their offer letter, which explained how these ongoing processes work. KCC staff members were ready to speak to parents and carers to answer any questions as well as offer information, advice and support.

Kent had seen an increase in the number of disadvantaged children securing a Grammar assessment through the Kent Test. On National Offer Day, while the whole cohort figures for securing a grammar school places saw a small reduction (42.6% compared to 42.8% for 2021 intake), 25.8% of tested FSM pupils secured a grammar

school compared to 23.9% last year. Similarly, 26.4% of tested Pupil Premium children were offered a Grammar school compared to 25.1% last year.

Following further negotiation, all Kent Grammar schools had agreed to include priority for Pupil Premium pupils in their oversubscription criteria. This news was very welcome.

Through the Reconnect Programme, Invicta National Academy had been commissioned to deliver a full-scale Home Study Support offer accessible to all pupils in Years 5 and 6 at primary schools and all KS4 (GCSE years) pupils at secondary schools. The Home Study Support, launched on 28 February, gave virtual access to a qualified teacher two evenings a week and was to operate throughout term time in terms 4, 5, and 6.

The Reconnect Programme had also commissioned Salus to deliver its fully evaluated "A for Attendance" programme in secondary schools across the County. This was a school-based programme, working with small groups of pupils referred by their school because their attendance falls below 90%. Salus was to work closely with the participating schools and the Pupil Referral Unit, Inclusion and Attendance service.

Visit Kent had launched a brand-new project which aimed to support Key Stage 2 (KS2) teachers to deliver a series of engaging lessons to help fill the gaps in learning left by the COVID-19 pandemic and reconnect children to their local areas. The 'Lesson in a Box' project, designed carefully as part of the Reconnect programme, was to provide a packed learning resource to KS2 teachers across the county filled with everything needed to deliver a six-module lesson. It offered a fun and exciting way for pupils to develop their knowledge about historic places on their doorstep, as well as valuable skills such as team-working and persuasive writing. It was hoped KS2 teachers would be quick to take advantage of this wonderful and unique opportunity.

4) Mr Brazier said that much work had been done around the Kent Travel Saver and supported buses following the agreement of KCC's Budget. He had made a number of appearances on television and on radio. He had spoken on BBC Radio Kent about the council's decision to waive fees permitting road closures to facilitate street parties in celebration of Her Majesty, The Queen's 70 years on the throne.

On 1 February, Mr Brazier accompanied the Leader and Deputy Leader to Thanet Parkway Station which was under construction. The station on its embankment was largely completed as the pilings, the platform and access towers had been constructed. The building was to be completed in large part in May 2022, although the reconstruction of the level crossing at Cliffsend was to delay its commissioning until May 2023. He had met with the Leader and the Chief Executive of Thanet District Council (TDC) a few days prior to the site visit and TDC eagerly awaited the opening of the station and the economic and travel improvements it would bring to the area.

On 2 March, Mr Brazier went to the offices of Dover District Council (DDC) and with KCC's representatives and representatives of Colas, the principal contractors,

witnessed the DDC Leader turning the first sod in the Fasttrack network which was to be completed by autumn 2023.

Following the Budget, Mr Brazier was looking forward to the additional swathe cut on highway verges which was to enhance biodiversity and encourage bees and other pollinators.

- 5) Miss Carey said that Plan Bee had been named positively by Tracey Crouch, MP in a parliamentary debate. Plan Bee had led to a difference in KCC's work and a budget commitment had been made to make more wildlife corridors on rural swathes. Following the success of Plan Bee, the next stage in the work on the natural environment was 'Plan Tree'. It was to go out to Public Consultation in March 2022. Thanks were given to all the staff in Environment and Waste Teams. Work was ongoing to deliver solar parks and it was felt that recent events had highlighted the real need for energy resilience and security. It was felt that more solar energy would be part of building energy resilience. It was felt that Kent and Dungeness would make a good location for modular nuclear reactors.
- 6) Mr Murphy said the National Empty Homes Week 2022 was marked in Kent by the news that KCC's No Use Empty Initiative (NUE) had passed its record for the number of projects carried out in the fiscal year. This coincided with news that the scheme had been awarded a further £2.5 million from the government's Growing Places Fund to boost the cash available to bring more empty properties back into use. Delivered by KCC in partnership with all 12 district councils and Medway Council, NUE provided a model which could be replicated offering financial assistance alongside advice and guidance. Its coordinated approach had brough 7256 empty homes back into use through a range of interventions. Thanks were given to Steve Grimshaw and his team for their work on NUE.

Brompton Bicycles were to build a revolutionary and sustainable factory in Ashford on wetland near the designer outlet. The factory was to open by 2027 with the aim of producing 200,000 bicycles a year. Initially, the factory was to employ 1500 staff and once fully operational, the factory was to employ 4000 people. Brompton Bikes had pledged to work with Kent universities, schools and colleges to develop a skilled workforce. The wetlands park was to be incorporated into the development.

Grow Up Farms, a producer of high-quality salads was to build a vertical farm at Discovery Park, Sandwich. Salads were to be grown on racks inside, using 90% less water and without the need for pesticides and the farm would be powered by renewable energy. It was a sustainable enterprise and 40 people would be employed.

There was a meeting with Damian Collins, Rolls Royce and the leader of Folkestone and Hythe District council, David Monk, regarding the future of Dungeness. Development of the site offered significant opportunities to the area and economy of Kent.

7) Mr Hill said on 16 February, the Civil Society Strategy was launched. KCC had worked very hard to improve relationships with the voluntary and social sector and the structure was now in place as to how to work together and how to support each other. He looked forward to the full implementation and thanks were given to officers for their work on the Civil Society Strategy.

Millie Knight from Canterbury and James Barnes-Miller from Broadstairs were selected to take part in the Winter Paralympics. It was Millie's third Paralympics and KCC Members wished them both good fortune.

8) Mr Sweetland said the lifting of Covid-19 restrictions had caused a knock-on effect on the local tracing partnership, which was being wound down. Some Agilisys call centre staff had moved to other jobs and others were going to work in KCC's Contact Centre. All of the information from the Prime Minister's announcement had been put on KCC's website.

Managers in the Contact Centre had boosted staff numbers for the weekend of Storm Eunice. Thanks were given to front line staff for their work over a difficult weekend.

9) Mr Oakford said he was looking at the war in Ukraine and how it impacted on KCC and its companies. Actions had been taken to make sure KCC was not funding through procurement Putin's war. A review of the supply chain and procurement activity through KCC had been requested and it transpired there were no contracts or dealings with Russia. However, very few cases in the energy market were found and any new transactions had been stopped.

There were concerns about cyber security and an increase of attacks on KCC's network. Having spoken to the appropriate people, Mr Oakford had been assured the situation was being monitored closely and he, the Leader and David Cockburn were being provided with regular updates.

The impact on the KCC Budget from inflation and increased cost of procured products was being looked into and monitored. The importance of the actions that were taken as part of the Budget process had been highlighted and making sure there was the right level of reserves and emergency reserves. Reserves would be needed in the coming months and years,

10) Members noted the need to differentiate between the actions of the Russian state and Russian individuals living in Kent or in Russia.

8. Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring Report - December 2021-22 (Item 5)

Zena Cooke, Corporate Director, Finance was in attendance for this item.

1) Mr Oakford introduced the report. The report was based on the position in December 2021 and the forecast revenue position, excluding schools and Covid-19, was a £13.9 million overspend. This was an improvement from the previous monitoring report presented to Cabinet. There was decrease of £4.6 million as there was a forecast underspend from Growth, Environment and Transport directorate. Both Adult Social Care and Children's Young People and Education directorates continued to forecast significant overspends. £10 million had been set aside in a specific reserve for expected pressures; anything above this would need to be met from other reserves, which would add to the pressure on the 2022-23 Budget and would weaken KCC's financial resilience. Reserves would need to be replenished in

future years. Continued urgent action was required to address the overspend to ensure a 'breaking even' point by the end of the financial year.

The reported Covid-19 position showed a forecast spend of £36.7 million. There was a corporately held Covid-19 budget of £16.1 million and the remainder of the spend was to be met from the emergency Covid-19 reserve. Work was ongoing to establish which costs were to continue into future years.

KCC set a savings target of £39.4 million to be delivered in 2021-22, of which £30.3 million were forecast to be delivered. This was approximately a £9 million shortfall of savings forecast for the financial year.

KCC's earmarked and general reserves were forecasting a net draw down of £59.1 million. The draw down reflected the use of the emergency Covid-19 reserves and impact of the forecast overspend if it was not reduced by the end of the financial year.

The capital forecast showed an underspend of £144.3 million, of which £146.3 million was related to re-phasing. It was hoped with the 10 year programme, the re-phasing would not be seen in such numbers. There was a £2 million real overspend in capital spending.

The schools' delegated budgets had reported a £54 million overspend which reflected the impact of high demand for additional SEN support and high cost per child for high needs placements. The predicted deficit for the High Needs Budget had increased by £49 million during 2021-22. The high needs deficit was the single most significant financial risk for KCC.

The Treasury management position was consistent with regular reports made to the Governance and Audit Committee.

2) Mrs Cooke said KCC's gross expenditure is £1.8 billion, of which £1.3 billion related to directly procured goods and commissioned services. Therefore, KCC was exposed to inflation risks arising as part of general inflation rises but also as a result of world affairs. KCC already had some challenging targets in the Budget in relation to inflation and the further impact of inflation would need to be watched carefully. KCC's financial resilience had been strengthened to withstand inflationary increases and other price pressures. KCC had around £8 million spent on energy costs on KCC's estate and highway infrastructure. KCC was to continue exploring options around short-term stability on energy prices, with some progress already made via LASER (part of KCC's Commercial Services) and would continue working on activity to manage energy price increases in the future. Less than £500,000 was spent on fuel. While KCC's direct spending on energy was relatively small, there would be an impact on supply chains from rising energy and fuel costs. This would include social care providers, bus companies, waste haulage contractors and highways contractors.

Inflation would have a significant bearing on KCC's capital costs. In terms of financial resilience, KCC's general reserves were 5% of the net revenue budget (approximately £60 million) and these were required to be held for unforeseen circumstances. Just an additional 2% on £1.3 billion on the procured and commissioned services would increase spending by £26 million. If prices were to escalate there were areas of spending that would need to be looked at to constrain

the impact of prices. KCC had a strong record of sound financial management and close monitoring would be continued.

- 3) In response to a question from the Leader, it was noted:
 - The reduction in the overspend from the previous report to Cabinet was as a result of an underspend in GET due to favourable recycling prices and additional permit and street-work income.
 - Any projected reduction in outturn was welcome but unfortunately, in other areas the overspend had remained static.
- 4) RESOLVED to note and agreed the recommendations as outlined in the report.

9. SEND Transport (Item 6)

Simon Jones, Corporate Director, GET; Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director, CYPE; Vicky Evans, Operations Manager and Alison White, Chair of Trustees of Kent Parents and Carers Together (PACT) were in attendance for this item.

1) Ms Evans said she and Ms White had worked tirelessly across Kent on the issue of SEND transport. The issues relating to SEN transport were countywide and affected a large number of children. Moving forward, parents needed to have faith that KCC would provide a more than adequate service. Some parents of SEN children affected by the problems had not been able to go to work or had to make a choice between their child being transported to school by taxi or paying for utilities.

It was reported that there had been oversights to the physical needs of children needing transport. Huge gap in communications- people were urged to email an address or use a telephone number but there were no communications in response.

Parents had reported the uncertainty had impacted on half term. Kent PACT had been placed in difficult position as a buffer.

- 2) The Leader said that he had received the messages and for many families, half term was not half term- the situation facing families was understood. Thanks were given to Ms Evans and Ms White for setting out what had happened so clearly.
- 3) Mr Brazier said GET had assured parents, carers and PACT that all those receiving SEND transport on 7 December 2021 would have details of their future provision by 11 February 2022. It became clear just before 11 February, that something was wrong and that some families had not and would not be advised as was thought. Mr Brazier met with officers and Cabinet colleagues on 14 February and it was established that many families had not had transport allocated to them. A full audit had been commissioned so that lessons could be learned and to avoid a recurrence in the future.
- 4) Mr Jones said that it was recognised that the delivery of re-tendering work had become protracted and delayed beyond the completion dates that had been identified. The programme had fallen below the standard KCC sought to and expected to achieve. It had resulted in pupils not being allocated transport for the beginning of term in the middle of February 2022. Apologies were given to all the

parents, carers and pupils affected. Transport had been allocated to all those considered within the tendering process and KCC was actively addressing those children who had become eligible for transport since 7 December 2021. The urgent enquiries regarding the suitability and other particular aspects raised by parents and carers were being addressed. KCC was committed to support a review and will seek to establish a plan of continuous improvement to not only prevent a recurrence but also to provide improved performance operationally in the future.

- 5) Mr Dunkley said KCC was a large and complex organisation and that when things go wrong, there was a wide impact. There was a lesson for KCC around coproduction with parents and Mr Dunkley regretted that good work building trust with parents by PACT had been undermined by the issues around re-tendering of the SEND transport. Large numbers of children and their families had undergone a difficult time as a result of the issues and lessons had to be learned from mistakes made.
- 6) Mrs Prendergast said it was important to acknowledge the pain that families had experienced. The review that officers were looking to commission was welcomed and it was important that there was not a recurrence of the issues.
- 7) Mrs Chandler thanked PACT for their work over the preceding fortnight and in the wider SEND agenda. Mrs Chandler said that Ms Evans and Ms White's comments about individual families had resonated with Members. Their request to be included in what happens going forward had been noted.
- 8) Mr Sweetland thanked Ms Evans and Ms White for their attendance at the meeting. It was noted that Mrs Prendergast had apologised in the media.
- 9) The Leader said it was important to acknowledge what had happened and reiterated the apology to those affected. An independent review was to be commissioned by KCC's Statutory Officers. The aim was ongoing service improvement but further steps were to be taken in due course informed by the review.
- 10) RESOLVED to note the update.

10. Levelling Up- The UK White Paper (Item 7)

David Whittle, Director of Strategy, Policy, Relationships & Corporate Assurance was in attendance for this item.

- 1) Mr Whittle presented the attached presentation regarding Levelling Up The UK White Paper.
- 2) Further to guestions from Members, it was noted:
 - District councils were involved with the Levelling Up agenda and through the Levelling Up Fund, the Towns Fund, the UK Shared Prosperity Fund the government had placed a strong emphasis on district councils in terms of 'local Pride in Place' work such as high street regeneration.

- The White Paper set the expectation that the government's interactions would be with one body, the upper tier authority at a strategic scale. Kent's MPs would need to communicate Kent's needs and advocate with regard to Levelling Up and also MPs' role in delivering place based agendas was to be strengthened.
- The White Paper was explicit in that its preference for the unitary structure for local government. However, it was acknowledged that county councils continued to have a place due to the way they delivered people-based services.
- It was emphasised that KCC would need to articulate the differences between the county and its neighbours in the south east. It was felt that there was a synergy with some of the work already being done by KCC.
- There were very few 'hard' timeframes included within the White Paper. The
 ambition was set out that all local authorities that wanted a devolution deal
 would have this by autumn 2030. Some of the ambitions set out were to be
 achieved by autumn 2022. The delivery targets for some of the ambitions
 would be in the medium term and in some cases, longer.
- 3) The Leader said the system changes discussed, both at the level of national government and its configuration, as well as various iterations of devolution were the most radical elements of the White Paper.

If the current government achieve the thinking in the White Paper, it would be desirable for this to become embedded and it would amount to a significant change if it took place. KCC was to focus on what was important for Kent and Kent's role in the south east would need to be pushed. There was a focus on the role of county councils with the Levelling Up agenda. The Levelling Up agenda tied in with work KCC had done on the priorities in the strategic statement and would be building on what was already being done.

4) RESOLVED to note the presentation.